Kaschner, K., Pauly, D. 2004. Competition between marine mammals and fisheries: Food for thought. Humane Society, Washington, D. C., 28 p.

# Competition between Marine Mammals and Fisheries:

FOOD FOR THOUGHT

*by* Kristin Kaschner Daniel Pauly

May 2004

# **Table of Contents**

Executive Summary
Introduction
Sharing One Planet
Room for Conflict
Is Competition a Problem?
What Is Competition?
Measuring Competition
What We Will Do
Who Eats HOW MUCH?
The Naïve Approach
Problems with the Naïve Approach
But for the Sake of Argument
Who Eats How Much of WHAT? 10
Different Species, Different Strokes10
Size—Among Other Things—Matters10
Who Eats How Much of What WHERE?12
Where Are Fisheries?
Where Are Marine Mammals?12
Where They Meet
And How Big a Problem Is That?14
Some Biological Complications
Beneficial Predation: We May Be in for Surprises
How Much Culling—If Ever—Is Enough?
Other Legitimate Questions
Who Would Get the Fish? 19
Are We Simply Looking for Scapegoats?
And How About the Birds?21
Conclusions
Acknowledgements
References & Notes

# **Executive Summary**

As the current crisis of global fisheries worsens, the case has been increasingly put forward in international fora that culling marine mammals would not only resolve the problems of fisheries but also help alleviate world hunger. Here, we present results from modelling the degree of ecological food resource overlap on a global scale between marine mammals and fisheries; the model considers the types of food taken by each group, as well as the geographic areas where the food is taken. Our analysis clearly shows that there is no evidence that food competition between the two is a global problem, even when the uncertainties associated with the available information are considered. Consequently, there is little basis to blame marine mammals for the crisis world fisheries are facing today. There is even less support for the suggestion that we could solve any of these urgent global problems, caused by a long history of mismanagement of fisheries, by reducing marine mammal populations.

The claims of competition promoted by culling advocates are usually based on estimates of the total food consumed annually by all or some species of marine mammals, which—depending on the geographic scale and species considered—amount to several times more than the annual catches taken by the fisheries. It is then implied that the amounts consumed would be available



#### Figure 1. Who Eats How Much of WHAT?

Estimated mean annual global catch/food consumption of marine mammals and fisheries by 9 major food types during an average year in the 1990s expressed as proportions of total (from Kaschner, 2004)<sup>138</sup>. The percentages of different food types in marine mammal consumption were computed based on diet composition standardised across species<sup>96</sup>. Corresponding percentages of different food types in fisheries catches were obtained by assigning individual target species/taxa to the appropriate food type category based on life history, size and habitat preferences of the target species or taxa. Food types mainly consumed by marine mammals are presented in hues of blue and green, and food types that are major fisheries target groups are presented in yellows and reds. Note that food types primarily targeted by fisheries represent only a small proportion of the diet of any marine mammal group.



#### Figure 2. Where Do They Meet?

Maps of estimated spatially explicit resource overlap between baleen whales and fisheries (A), pinnipeds and fisheries (B), large toothed whales and fisheries (C), dolphins and fisheries (D) (from Kaschner, 2004). Maps were produced by computing a modified niche overlap index for each cell in the global grid (Sidebar 4). The overlap index is based on a comparison of similarity in the composition of diets of marine mammal species and catches of global fisheries in a particular cell, as represented by the proportions of different food types taken by each player in this cell and then weighted by the proportion of total global catch and food consumption taken in the cell. Overall predicted overlap between any marine mammal group and fisheries is quite low from a global perspective, with only a few potential and isolated "hotspots" concentrated in shelf areas. Specifically, overlap between pinnipeds and dolphins is predicted to be higher in the Northern Hemisphere, while overlap between baleen whales and large toothed whales appears to be higher in the Southern Hemisphere. Comparison with mapped fisheries catch rates suggests that areas of potential high conflict are largely driven by high concentrations of fisheries catches taken from relatively small areas. Note that predictions of high overlap in some areas, such as the northwestern Pacific for the baleen whales, are misleading as these are based on overestimates of marine mammal food consumption in these areas. Overestimates are due to a specific feature of our modelling approach that currently does not account for the effects of population structure and varying degrees of depletion of different populations of the same species (Kaschner, 2004).

#### Resource overlap index



to fisheries were it not for the marine mammals. This line of reasoning intuitively appeals to many people, as it is seemingly based on common sense. However, combined with references to hunger in poor countries, these arguments articulate a potentially dangerous and misleading view of the interactions between humans and marine mammals on the one hand and hunger and natural resources availability on the other.

The main problem is that the food consumption models underlying these arguments tend to be very simplistic and are regarded as inappropriate from a scientific viewpoint to adequately capture the complexity of competition in the ocean. However, sufficiently detailed models are currently lacking to deal with this issue and may never become available, largely due to the extensive requirements in terms of model complexity and field data. Therefore, we focus here on showing the flaws in the arguments that favour the resumption of whaling using these simple food consumption models—based on some further commonsense considerations and a few additional parameters.

We generated estimates of global food consumption by marine mammals for comparison with fisheries catches, using a similar type of simple model but one which also considers the compositions of diets and catches and spatial distribution of both marine mammals and fisheries. Results indeed indicate that the amounts taken by marine mammals exceed global fisheries catches. However, by incorporating information about the types of food taken by marine mammals, we show that most food consumed by marine mammals consists of prey types that fisheries do not target (Figure 1). By combining estimates of total food consumption with a new mapping approach, we further demonstrate that marine mammals consume most of their food in areas where humans do not fish (Figure 2). The resulting maps show, for each major species group (baleen whales, pinnipeds, large toothed whales and dolphins), that overlap between marine mammal food consumption and fisheries is high only in some small isolated areas. Areas of overlap tend to be concentrated along the continental shelves of the Northern

Hemisphere, where marine mammals take comparatively little of their food—in fact we demonstrate that less than 1 percent of all food consumed by any species group stems from areas of high overlap. Similarly, more than 85 percent of all fisheries operate in areas of low overlap. Consequently, while we acknowledge that local interactions between marine mammals and fisheries do occur, we show that the conflation of marine mammal food consumption and human food security does not at all take the form suggested by the proponents of marine mammal culls.

Moreover, this report shows, based on a review of the recent peer-reviewed ecological and modelling literature, that the very attempt to substitute predators such as marine mammals with fisheries leads to food web disruptions and adjustments that often preclude the harvesting of the former's prey by humans. Thus, the last decade, which has seen the "fishing down" of marine food webs, has not led to increased marine fisheries catches; indeed, global fisheries catches have been declining since the late 1980s despite the depletion of large predatory fish throughout the oceans by fisheries. Moreover, it is the continuation of present fisheries management approaches and the export of fisheries products from developing to developed countries-not marine mammals-that endanger human food security.

Solving the problems of global fisheries and human hunger are big challenges that will involve the best that humankind can contribute. These problems, however, will not be resolved by divisive, politically driven schemes such as the culling of marine mammals.

### References

Kaschner, K. Modelling and mapping of resource overlap between marine mammals and fisheries on a global scale. PhD Thesis, MMRU, Fisheries Centre, Department of Zoology (University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada, 2004).

Pauly, D., Trites, A. W., Capuli, E. & Christensen, V. Diet composition and trophic levels of marine mammals. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 55, 467–481 (1998).

# Introduction

#### **Sharing One Planet**

Marine mammals and humans have co-existed on this planet for several hundred thousand years (Figure 1). Both rely heavily on the exploitation of marine resources, though whales, dolphins and pinnipeds have been doing so for much longer, roaming the oceans for millions of years, long before the emergence of modern humans<sup>1</sup>. Not surprisingly, when there is a "new kid on the block", co-existence is not always very peaceful and many of the encounters between humans and marine mammals result in a variety of conflicts.

#### **Room for Conflict**

Many species of marine mammals are affected and frequently threatened by fisheries and other human activities<sup>2,3</sup>. In the past, the main threats were large-scale whaling<sup>4</sup> and sealing operations<sup>5-7</sup>. These focused initially on the waters of northern Europe and Asia, but soon extended all the way to Antarctica and reduced countless populations to small fractions of their former abundances<sup>8</sup> or extirpated them completely, as with the now extinct Atlantic grey whale<sup>9</sup> or the Caribbean monk seal<sup>10, 11</sup>. Today, humans adversely impact marine mammals mainly through incidental entanglement in fishing gear<sup>2, 3,12, 13</sup>, chemical<sup>14–16</sup> and acoustical pollution<sup>17, 18</sup>, and in some cases, ship strikes<sup>19, 20</sup>—some populations close to the point of extinction are the vaguita<sup>21</sup>, the Mediterranean<sup>22-24</sup> and Hawaiian monk seals<sup>25</sup> and western North Atlantic right whales<sup>8, 26</sup>.

On the other hand, there are examples of some marine mammals potentially adversely impacting fisheries. Controversial cases include the damaging of gear (e.g., harbour seals vs. fish farms)<sup>27, 28</sup>, devaluation of catch through depredation (killer whales vs. long-line fisheries in Alaska)<sup>28, 29</sup>, or indirectly, through costs incurred by gear modifications that are required to reduce anthropogenic impacts on marine mammal species (e.g., dolphin-excluder devices, pingers)<sup>30-33</sup>.

#### Is Competition a Problem?

Competition between marine mammals and fisheries for available marine food resources has often been mentioned as another issue of concern<sup>34–36</sup>. This is understandable, since many marine mammal species, in common with humans, operate near or at the top of the marine food web<sup>37</sup>. In recent years, as the fisheries crisis has developed from a set of regional problems to a global concern<sup>38, 39</sup> and the animal protein that millions of people depend upon is in increasingly shorter supply, there is a growing need to find scapegoats for the collapse of fisheries. Most marine mammals are large—suggesting that they must eat a great deal—and visible to us, at least in comparison



# Figure 1.

Co-existence of marine mammals and humans—not for very long, not always peaceful.

with other marine top predators, such as piscivorous fish. Moreover, some species—notably various species of fur seals<sup>40, 41</sup>—have recovered from previous levels of high exploitation and their populations are increasing, although population levels of most species are still far below their pre-exploitation abundance<sup>8, 40, 41</sup>. For these reasons, whales, dolphins and pinnipeds lend themselves quite easily as culprits for the problems various fisheries are facing. Thus the voices of countries and corporations with large fishing interests, requesting "holistic management" that includes "the utilization of marine mammals such as whales...to increase catch from the oceans"42, have been growing louder. As a consequence, much political pressure has been applied in recent years in various international fora concerned with the management of global marine resources to begin to address the issue of competition between marine mammals and fisheries on a global scale<sup>43-45</sup>.

#### What Is Competition?

From an ecological perspective, competition is a situation where the simultaneous presence of two resource consumers is mutually disadvantageous<sup>36</sup>. A rarely acknowledged but implicit assumption is that the removal of one of the players would translate into direct benefits for the remaining player. In the context of the proposed competition between marine mammals and fisheries, competition occurs when both marine mammals and fisheries consume the same types of food in the same general geographical areas (and water depths). More importantly though, competition occurs only if the removal of either marine mammals or fisheries results in a direct increase of food available to the other<sup>46, 47</sup>.

#### **Measuring Competition**

Many studies have attempted to qualitatively and quantitatively assess the ecological role of marine mammals and the extent of their trophic competition or overlap with fisheries<sup>35, 48-54</sup>. To address this question, various approaches have been applied to the problem of modelling marine mammal food consumption and the potential effects of this intake on fisheries yields, reviewed in detail elsewhere<sup>46, 47, 55</sup>. Existing approaches range from simple static "who-eats-how-much-ofwhat" models to very sophisticated trophodynamic ecosystems models that consider, among other things, interactions between multiple species changing over time and in space<sup>56-60</sup>. The "who-eats-how-much" models are generally regarded as inadequate to investigate the issue of potential competition since they largely ignore important issues of uncertainty and food web interactions<sup>47, 55</sup>. However, the application of more complex models, such as those recommended by the United Nations Environment Programme to investigate proposals for marine mammal culls<sup>61</sup>, is often hampered by the lack of availability of necessary data<sup>47, 55, 62</sup> and the degree of uncertainty associated with their parameters.

It has been suggested that an undesired consequence of the efforts to focus on the uncertainties and difficulties associated with the application of complex models has been an effective rejection of the "scientific approach" by politicians, administrators, fishers and lay people<sup>43</sup>. Thus many people end up considering the simpler "who-eats-how-much-of-what" approach as a "commonsense" notion wherein fewer marine mammals must mean more fish for humans to catch.

As another side effect of their data requirements, most existing complex models focus on relatively small geographic areas<sup>63-65</sup>. Although this may suffice for some coastal species, such small scales may be inappropriate for species that are highly migratory and range globally or across large ocean basins. As a result, the perception of the extent of the problem in terms of resource overlap between fisheries and marine mammal species is distorted by models that are restricted to areas that represent only a small part of a species' distributional range.

We propose to use a different type of approach, allowing some perspective on the issue of potential competition between fisheries and marine mammals on a global scale. By developing further the "who-eatshow-much-of-what" approach, we can demonstrate that the application of some true common sense<sup>a</sup> may be sufficient to counter claims that the culling of marine mammals will help us alleviate the major problems the world's fisheries are facing today, and even world hunger.

#### What We Will Do

In this report we will summarize the major flaws in the case for culling, put forward at international fora with increasing insistence, which blames marine mammals for the world's fisheries crisis and promotes the pre-emptive removal of marine mammals as a solution to problems such as globally dwindling fish stocks and world hunger.

More importantly, however, we will show that even though this group of predators does collectively consume a large quantity of marine resources as part of its natural role in marine ecosystems, there is likely very little actual competition between "them" and "us", mainly because marine mammals, to a large extent, consume food items that humans do not catch and/or consume them in places where fisheries do not operate.

# Who Eats HOW MUCH?

#### The Naïve Approach

Substantial political pressure has been applied in recent years to promote the claim that the competition between marine mammals and fisheries is a serious global issue that needs to be addressed in the context of world hunger in general and dwindling fish stocks specifically<sup>43-45</sup>. These claims are based on very simplistic food consumption models-crude so-called "surplus yield" calculations<sup>55</sup>—and are referred to here as the "naïve" approach. These models calculate the quantity of prey taken by marine mammal species by simply estimating the amount of food consumed by one animal of a specific species based on its estimated mean weight, multiplying this amount by the total estimated number of animals of this species and then summing this estimate of food intake for all or major subgroups of marine mammal species. Estimates thus derived put the total amount consumed by cetaceans worldwide, for instance, at 3 to 6 times the global marine commercial fisheries catch<sup>66, 67</sup>. It is then often implied that a reduction in the predator population will translate directly into a corresponding increase in prey67-70 and that this increase would then be available for fisheries exploitation.

#### Problems with the Naïve Approach

There are many problems associated with the naïve approach—so many that the scientific community has effectively refused even to consider a discussion about culling marine mammal species based on these simple estimates<sup>47</sup>. One problem is that reliable and comprehensive abundance estimates are still lacking for the majority of marine mammal species throughout much of their distributional ranges-most existing global estimates represent only guesstimates at best. Moreover, since we cannot directly measure the amount of food consumed by the animals, our estimates of food intake rely on physiological models that are largely based on what we know about the relationship between the amount an animal must eat to sustain itself given a certain body mass<sup>53,71</sup>. However, we still know very little about the factors that influence this

relationship, and the naïve approach effectively ignores the large variations among individuals and species associated with differences in age and seasons, and the proportion of time spent on different activities, to mention only a few. More importantly, the naïve approach completely ignores the complex range of dynamic factors that affect how the removal of highlevel predators impacts ecosystems<sup>72</sup>, some of which we will discuss later in this report. For all of these reasons, gross estimates of the total amount of fish consumed by marine mammals, by themselves, provide little or no information about the net "gain" in fisheries catches that might result from a reduction in numbers of any marine mammal population.

#### But for the Sake of Argument...

As mentioned in the introduction, it may seem intuitive for many people that because whales and other marine mammals are big and eat a great deal, having fewer of them should result in more fish being available for human consumption. There is as yet no model that is detailed enough and meets sufficiently stringent scientific requirements that would allow us to reliably investigate the effects, positive or negative, that the reduction of marine mammal populations might have on net fisheries catches. Indeed, such a model may never be developed. Therefore, rather than focusing our efforts on attempting to do what probably cannot be done, we will instead show the flaws in the arguments that favour the resumption of whaling using the naïve approach-based on commonsense considerations and a few additional parameters.

We used a simple food consumption model, outlined briefly in Sidebar 1, to estimate global annual food consumption of different groups of marine mammals to compare them with catches taken by world fisheries (Figure 2). Mean estimates for all groups are indeed almost as high or slightly higher than global reported fisheries catches (although it should be noted that total fisheries catches are likely underestimated<sup>38</sup>). To convey—at least to some extent—the degree of uncertainty associated with these estimates, we have also included minimum and maximum estimates generated by the model, which illustrate the wide margin for error that must be considered before attempting to use such estimates in a management context.

We arrive at maximum estimates of global mean food intake for the baleen whales that are similar to those previously published<sup>42, 67</sup>. Although their abundance is comparatively low<sup>b</sup>, baleen whales do indeed take the bulk of the total food consumed by all marine mammals due to their large size. However, in terms of the type of food targeted also by fisheries, (shown in red in Figure 2; mostly small pelagics, benthic invertebrates and a group we have summarized as "miscellaneous fishes", which mainly includes mediumsized groundfish and pelagic fish species), baleen whales likely consume less or at least no more than

### Sidebar 1

# Basic Food Consumption Model—Who Is Eating How Much of What?

We generated estimates of annual food consumption during the 1990s for each marine mammal species using a simple food consumption model<sup>51, q</sup> and syntheses of recently published information about the population abundances, sex ratios, sex-specific mean weights, and weight-specific feeding rates extracted from more than 3,000 sources of primary and secondary literature compiled into a global database. To convey the extent of uncertainty associated with this total estimate of marine mammal food consumption, we generated minimum and maximum estimates by running the model with different feeding rates, but ignoring effects such as seasonal differences in food intake<sup>138</sup>. Corresponding mean global fisheries catches for the 1990s were taken from the global fisheries catch database developed and maintained by the Sea Around Us Project at the Fisheries Centre (University of British Columbia, Canada) (Sidebar 2) and averaged over the last decade. Note that this is an estimate only of the reported catches and that total takes by fisheries are probably closer to 150 million tonnes per year, if illegal, unreported or unregulated (IUU) catches are taken into account<sup>39</sup> (Figure 2).

The percentages of different food types in total marine mammal consumption were estimated based on the diet composition standardized across species, itself based on 200 published qualitative and quantitative studies of species-specific feeding habits<sup>37</sup>. The proportions of different food types represented in fisheries catches were obtained by assigning individual target species/taxa to the appropriate food type category based on life history, size and habitat preferences of the target species or taxa. Food types included benthic invertebrates (BI), large zooplankton (LZ), small squid (SS), large squid (LS), small pelagic fishes (SP), meso-pelagic fishes (MP), miscellaneous fishes (MF), higher vertebrates (HV) and an additional food type containing all catches of species only targeted by fisheries, such as large tuna, which we called non-marine mammal fishes (NM) (Figure 3).

fisheries do every year. The majority of what is being eaten by baleen whales (as well as by toothed whales and pinnipeds) consists of food types that, for reasons of taste and accessibility, are of little interest to commercial fisheries. We will expand on this important consideration of **what** is being eaten in the next section.

# Who Eats How Much of WHAT?

#### **Different Species, Different Strokes**

During their foraging dives, many marine mammal species regularly venture to depths of over a thousand meters<sup>73-76</sup> and far under the pack ice<sup>77</sup>, into areas rarely if ever visited by humans. There, they feed on organisms about whose existence we often know only indirectly based on specimens collected from the stomachs of marine mammal species<sup>78, 79</sup>. Along similar lines, at least some of our favourite seafood delicacies, such as tuna, are rarely if ever consumed by marine mammals. In light of these and many other differences in taste and accessibility, the distinction between which food types are targeted by marine mammals and which by fisheries warrants serious attention.

Based on the approach described in Sidebar 1, we specified the relative amount of 9 different food types consumed by major marine mammal groups and fisheries (Figure 3). The majority of all food consumed by any marine mammal group consists of food types that are of little interest to commercial fisheries. Diets of pinnipeds and dolphins appear to be most similar to global fisheries catch composition, while the diet of large toothed whales, feeding predominately on large, deep-sea squid species not targeted by fisheries<sup>80</sup>, shows the least similarity.

#### Size—among Other Things—Matters

Like all other parameters in the basic food consumption model, the determination of marine mammal diet composition is affected by uncertainties. Problems arise due to the difficulties associated with obtaining diet information from sufficient sample sizes in the wild<sup>81</sup>. Diet composition estimates based on stomach content analyses tend to be biased towards cephalopods, as their hard parts are less readily digested than those of other prey groups<sup>82</sup>. Such biases may be addressed by applying correction factors that compensate for differential effects of digestion on different prey types<sup>83, 84</sup>. More serious biases are introduced by the predominance of stranded animals in the overall sample. Such



#### Figure 2. Who Eats How Much?

Estimated mean annual global catch/food consumption of fisheries and major marine mammal groups during the 1990s (modified from Kaschner, 2004)<sup>138</sup>. Error bars of marine mammal food consumption indicate minimum and maximum estimates based on different feeding rates<sup>71</sup>. Total fisheries catches are probably closer to 150 million tonnes per year if illegal, unreported and unregulated catches are taken into account<sup>89</sup>. The food intake by marine mammals consisting of prey types that are also major groups targeted by fisheries are presented in red (mainly small pelagic fishes, miscellaneous fishes and benthic invertebrates). Note that, although mean global food consumption of all marine mammals combined is estimated to be several times higher than total fisheries catches, the majority of food types consumed by the various marine mammal groups are not targeted by fisheries.



#### Figure 3. Who Eats How Much of WHAT?

Estimated mean annual global catch/food consumption of marine mammals and fisheries by 9 major food types during an average year in the 1990s expressed as proportions of total (from Kaschner, 2004)<sup>138</sup>. The percentages of different food types in marine mammal consumption were computed based on diet composition standardised across species<sup>56</sup>. Corresponding percentages of different food types in fisheries catches were obtained by assigning individual target species/taxa to the appropriate food type category based on life history, size and habitat preferences of the target species or taxa. Food types mainly consumed by marine mammals are presented in hues of blue and green, and food types that are major fisheries target groups are presented in yellows and reds. Note that food types primarily targeted by fisheries represent only a small proportion of the diet of any marine mammal group.

animals may not be representative of the rest of the population, as they are often sick and/or their stomach contents over-represent the coastal components of their diet<sup>81</sup>. Other, newer molecular methods, including stable isotope<sup>85-87</sup> and fatty acid<sup>86, 88-90</sup> analyses, also have biases<sup>91</sup>. Finally, there is substantial geographical and seasonal variation in the diet composition of marine mammal species<sup>92-94</sup>.

The standardised diet composition used here may be fairly robust to these sources of bias, as the food type categories are very broad<sup>c</sup>. However, due to these biases, the similarity in food types exploited by fisheries and marine mammals shown in Figure 3 is likely to be even lower than suggested here<sup>d</sup>, especially if other aspects, such as differences in prey size, are also taken into consideration (Figure 4).

# Who Eats How Much of What WHERE?

As mentioned in the introduction, the spatial overlap of resource exploitation is a pre-requisite for competition to occur. In this section, we will assess the degree of overlap between marine mammal food consumption and fisheries by comparing on a global scale the areas where marine mammals are likely to feed to the areas in which most fishing activities occur.

#### Where Are Fisheries?

To illustrate where most human fishing activities occur, we used the mapped distribution of global fisheries for an average year during the 1990s (Figure 5)— a modelling process briefly described in Sidebar  $2^{141}$ . As can be seen, the vast majority of fisheries catches is taken along the continental shelves of Europe, North America, Southeast Asia and the west coast of South America. Highest catches occur where continental shelves are wide, such as the Bering, East China or North Sea, or in highly productive upwelling systems, such as those that can be found along the west coasts of South America and South Africa. However, despite the distant water fleets roaming the oceans and the development of deep-sea fisheries operating far offshore, major fishing grounds generally lie in close proximity to areas with high human populations, off the coasts of industrial fishing nations. It is noteworthy that comparatively little catch is taken off the coasts of developing countries, such as in East Africa or even the Indian subcontinent, where fish, caught mostly by small-scale fishers, still represents a major form of sustenance and is often the only source of animal protein<sup>95</sup>. Moreover, the majority of catches that *are* taken along the coasts of developing countries (e.g., along the coast of northwest Africa) are not harvested by local fishers, but rather by the large trawlers of distant water fleets of industrial nations<sup>96</sup>.

#### Where Are Marine Mammals?

Unlike humans, marine mammals are true creatures of the sea and spend the majority, if not all, of their time living and feeding in the oceans. Except for a few species that haul out on land during reproductive seasons, or have very small coastal ranges, marine mammals are not restricted in their distribution by the distance to the nearest landmass or the climatic conditions that largely



#### Figure 4. Size—among Other Things—Matters

Example of differences in prey size targeted by marine mammals and fisheries: Relative frequency histograms of the estimated fork length of walleye pollock and Atka mackerel consumed by Steller sea lions in Alaska compared with relative frequency histograms of fish caught by the walleye pollock and Atka mackerel commercial trawl fishery in the same areas. Estimates of prey sizes taken by sea lions are based on analysis of bones found in Steller sea lion scat, with correction factors applied to account for differential impacts of digestion on different bones (reproduced with permission from Zepplin et al., 2004)<sup>82</sup>. Note that Steller sea lions frequently target much smaller prey sizes than those taken by the fisheries.

### Sidebar 2

# Modelling and Mapping of Global Fisheries Catches— You Couldn't Have Caught That There!<sup>141</sup>

Until recently, the exact origin of fisheries catches of the world was mostly unknown. The reasons were many and where fisheries landing statistics exist (and they do, in some form, for the overwhelming majority of the world's fisheries), these statistics usually suffer from a number of deficiencies. Ignoring typical problems of missing/ incomplete data and inconsistent units of measure, one of their most common weaknesses is that they are often guite vague, particularly about the identity of the harvested taxa as well as the exact location where they were caught. To overcome this problem, over the past four years the Sea Around Us Project has developed a spatial allocation process that relies on what might be called the application of common sense (in conjunction with very large amounts of related data stored in supporting databases) to assign the coarse-scale reported landings from large statistical areas into the most probable distribution within a global grid system with 0.5° latitude by 0.5° longitude cell dimensions (approximately 180,000 ocean cells). The basic assumptions are that catches of a particular fish species (or other harvested taxa) by a specific country cannot occur where the reported species does not occur and that they cannot stem from areas where the country in question is not allowed to fish. Information about species distributions

influence the locations of fishing grounds and major human settlements. Conversely, many species occur predominately in geographic areas still largely inaccessible and/or rarely frequented by humans, such as the ice-breeding seals of the Northern and Southern Hemispheres or many of the dolphin or whale species predominately occurring in tropical offshore waters. Because of the vastness of the oceans and the elusiveness of many species, it is difficult to determine accurately where they occur and feed.

Here, we have used a novel habitat suitability modeling approach, outlined in Sidebar 3, to map the likely occurrence of marine mammal species based on the relative suitability of the environment, given what is known about their habitat preferences. Based on our predictions, most of the food that marine mammals consume is taken far offshore, in areas where the majority of fishing boats rarely venture (Figure 6). Often cosmopolitan in their distributions, the baleen and large toothed whale species, for example, are likely feeding mostly in the open oceans. Due to the sheer size of the feeding ranges of these species, consumption densities (annual food intake per km<sup>2</sup>) are comparatively low and fairly homogenous across large areas (Figure 6 A & C). and fishing access agreements can therefore serve as constraints to limit the available area where reported catches can be made within the large statistical area.

We developed and used a global database of species distributions based on published maps of occurrence (where available) or by using other sources of information to help restrict the range of exploited taxa, notably water depth (for non-pelagic species), latitudinal limits, statistical areas, proximity to critical habitats (such as seamounts, mangroves or coral reefs), ice coverage and historical records. In addition, we compiled large amounts of information describing the access agreements between fishing nations to the fisheries resources of other coastal countries based on formal bilateral agreements, existing joint ventures between governments and private companies and/or associations, the documented history of fishing prior to the declaration of exclusive economic zones by various countries and other observations. The intersection of these databases with reported catches by countries from large statistical fishing areas allows the allocation of fine-scale fisheries catches to individual spatial cells. Predicted catch and biomass distributions of taxa exploited by fisheries of the world can be viewed online at www.seaaroundus.org, and average catch distribution for the 1990s is shown in Figure 5.

Food intake of the smaller dolphin species is even lower and appears to be concentrated in temperate waters (Figure 6 D). Pinniped food consumption, in contrast, tends to be more closely associated with coasts and shelf areas, with feeding taking place mostly in the polar waters of both hemispheres, and the restriction to smaller areas in combination with high abundances of most species results in much higher, locally concentrated feeding densities (Figure 6 B).

Overall, the concentration of food intake in the higher latitude, polar waters would be even more pronounced if seasonal migrations and feeding patterns of different species were incorporated into our model, particularly those of the baleen whales. We also need to stress that some areas of apparent high consumption, such as the South and East China Seas for the baleen whales, represent overestimates of food intake rates that are related to a specific feature of our modelling approach, which relies on global abundance estimates to generate local densities and which currently ignores, for example, the effects of population structure and differences in the recovery status or relative abundance between individual subpopulations<sup>e</sup>.

### Sidebar 3

# Modelling and Mapping Large-Scale Marine Mammal Distributions— We May Know More Than We Think We Know...

The delineation of marine mammal distributions is greatly hampered by the vastness of the marine environment and the low densities of many species. Since marine mammals spend the majority of their lives under water and roam widely through the oceans, it is difficult to determine whether a species fails to occur in a particular area or whether we have not spent enough time looking or simply missed it when we did look there. All of these factors contribute to the difficulties we encounter when trying to map distributions of any whale, dolphin or pinniped species. Consequently, most published maps of distribution are tentative, often consisting only of outlines, sketched by experts that represent what they believe to be the maximum boundaries of a given species' occurrence.

We have developed a rule-based approach to map the distributions of 115 marine mammal species in a more objective way by exploiting various types of quantitative and qualitative ecological information, including (but not limited to) expert knowledge and general observations<sup>138</sup>. Within a global grid (described in Sidebar 2) we used our model to quantitatively relate what is known about a species' general habitat preferences to the environmental conditions in an area, thus effectively showing where the environment may be suitable for a particular whale, dolphin or pinniped species given what we know about the types of habitat they tend to prefer. Or put differently, the model defines rigorously the geographic regions that experts describe essentially when they talk about a "coastal, tropical species" (e.g., the Atlantic humpbacked dolphin) or a species that "prefers offshore, polar waters" (e.g., the hooded seal). Although the actual occurrence of a species will depend on a number of additional factors, extensive testing of the model shows that it can already describe, even in its present simple form, known patterns of species occurrence quite well<sup>139, 140</sup>. The predicted distributions for the 115 marine mammal species considered here can be viewed online at www.seaaroundus.org.

#### Where They Meet

Using the predicted geographic distributions of marine mammal food consumption and fisheries catches, we can now investigate the extent to which they overlap. Again, however, to address the issue of potential competition, we must consider not only how much both players take *where*, but also *what* they take. To assess this, we produced global maps showing the overlap in resource exploitation between the major marine mammal groups and fisheries (Figure 7 A–D), using an approach that considers not only the extent of spatial and dietary overlap, but also the relative importance of a given area to either group (Sidebar 4). Areas of overlap between fisheries and marine mammal groups are mostly concentrated in the Northern Hemisphere and appear to occur primarily between pinnipeds and fisheries. In contrast, fisheries' overlap with baleen whales is relatively low, and predicted hotspots in the western North Pacific are largely due to the biases associated with determining food consumption discussed in the previous section. Partially due to the comparatively low total food intake of dolphins, the overlap between fisheries and this group is quite low and again mostly concentrated in the Northern Hemisphere. Not surprisingly, the lowest overlap occurs between fisheries and deep-diving large toothed whales, whose diets primarily consist of large squid species and meso-pelagic fish, not currently exploited by fisheries.

#### And How Big a Problem Is That?

The maps illustrate clearly that overlap between marine mammal groups and fisheries is probably not a global issue, but rather one restricted to a few relatively small geographic regions and concerning a few species.

Looking at our maps, the skewed perception of this problem by nations in close vicinity to these hotspots of interaction becomes understandable, if still somewhat myopic. However, to put the size of the potential overlap problem into perspective, we calculated the proportion of food consumption that stems from areas of predicted high overlap (Figure 8). In the 1990s, on average, only about 1 percent of all food taken by any marine mammal group was consumed in areas with significant spatial and/or dietary overlap with fisheries catches, indicating that both players should be able to co-exist quite peacefully in most of the world's oceans<sup>4</sup>.

The 10–20 percent of global fisheries catches taken in areas of potential high overlap represents a relatively significant amount, of course. Recall, however, that overlap does not automatically equal competition and our results likely represent an over- rather than an underestimation of overlap for the reasons outlined in the previous sections. Moreover, as shown by comparison of the maps of food consumption and fisheries catches, areas of high overlap appear to be largely associated with areas of extreme concentrations of fisheries extractions, rather than locally concentrated food intake by marine mammals. It is therefore more



#### Figure 5. Where Are Fisheries?

Map of predicted spatially explicit global fisheries catch rates during an average year in the 1990s, generated through spatial-disaggregation of reported annual catches in a global grid of 0.5° latitude by 0.5° longitude cell dimensions using a rule-based approach (Sidebar 2) (based on data from Watson et al., 2004<sup>141</sup>, with catches averaged over the last decade). Non-regular colour-coded scale, described in the legend, is the same as in Figure 6, except for the lowest category, which combines three of the marine mammal categories. Highest concentrations of fisheries catches are taken from Northern Hemisphere shelf areas and from the highly productive upwelling systems around western South America and Africa. Note open-ended scale of legend and that top fisheries' catch rates (dark red) in some areas can amount to more than 1,000 tonnes per km<sup>2</sup> per year—more than 100 times as much as the maximum marine mammal food consumption rates predicted anywhere in the world<sup>138</sup>.



likely for fisheries to adversely impact marine mammal species in these areas of intense fishing than *vice versa*, as has already been suggested elsewhere<sup>97</sup>. For species with large distributional ranges, such as the minke whale, the reaction to any potential local depletion of prey species by fisheries may only be to shift to alternate feeding grounds. For those species with very restricted ranges, such as the vaquita in the Gulf of California or South Africa's Heaviside's dolphins, such local depletions of food resources by intensive fisheries may pose serious threats to the survival of the species.

Overall, our analysis indicates that the issue of potential competition may better be addressed at a local level. We also note that most of the potential "hotspots" highlighted by our approach are in areas that have been the focal points of much debate about marine mammalfisheries interactions, such as in the Bering Sea with the potential negative impacts of the U.S. groundfish fisheries on the endangered western population of Steller sea lions<sup>98, 99</sup>, or the Benguela system off southwest Africa with the potential impacts of the increasing population of South African fur seals on the hake stocks in this area<sup>100, 101</sup>. These and other hotspots will require much more detailed investigation to establish the true extent of the problem at hand.

## Some Biological Complications

As mentioned earlier, it is generally agreed that far more complex models are needed, incorporating many additional parameters and requiring more, often still unavailable data<sup>47, 97, 102</sup> to adequately address the issue of interactions between marine mammals and fisheries and the potential far-reaching effects of the removal of top predators from marine ecosystems<sup>72, 97, 103, 104</sup> in those areas where competition may occur. The assumptions, structures and data needed for such models have been extensively reviewed elsewhere<sup>47, 97, 102</sup>. However, here we will highlight the problems associated with attempts to increase fisheries catches through the culling of marine mammals in those areas where the existence of competition is agreed to be likely.

#### **Beneficial Predation: We May Be in for Surprises**

Although the term "food chain" is often used when describing the feeding interactions underlying marine ecosystem structure, it is of "food webs" that we should speak<sup>g</sup>. Finely patterned food webs do not function as efficiently as a simple food chain would: much of the biomass synthesized by phytoplankton fails to reach higher trophic levels, and is instead diverted into



#### Figure 6. Where Are Marine Mammals?

Maps of predicted spatially explicit global food consumption rates of marine mammal groups during an average year in the 1990s (from Kaschner, 2004)<sup>138</sup>. Spatially explicit estimates of food consumption rates for baleen whales (A), pinnipeds (B), large toothed whales (C) and dolphins (D) are shown. These were produced by linking species-specific food consumption estimates to predicted species distributions generated by an environmental suitability model in a global grid of 0.5° latitude by 0.5° longitude cell dimensions (Sidebar 3) and then summing rates across all species within one taxonomic group. Non-regular colour-coded scale, described in the legend, is the same as in Figure 5, except for three added low-density categories needed to make patterns visible for all species groups. Food consumption is much more homogenously distributed than fisheries catches (compare Figure 5). Areas of highest concentrations vary for different species groups, but are generally located in regions further offshore or in higher latitudes seldom visited by fisheries. Note open-ended scale of legend and that maximum food consumed (dark red) by any species group does not exceed 10 tonnes per km<sup>2</sup> per year anywhere in the oceans—100 times less than top fisheries extraction rates. Please also note that some areas of apparent high consumption, such as the South and East China Seas for the baleen whales, represent overestimates of food intake rates that are artefacts of a specific feature of our modelling approach<sup>e</sup>. Overall, close to 70 percent of all marine mammal food consumption is taken in the Southern Hemisphere, and most of this is consumed south of 40–50° latitude south, where only 6 percent of all fisheries catches are taken<sup>138</sup>.

Food consumption rates floornes \* km<sup>2</sup> \* year<sup>2</sup>]

> 5.00		
2.50	-	5.00
1.00	-	2.50
0.75	-	1.00
0.50	-	0.75
0.25	-	0.50
0.15	-	0.25
0.10	-	0.15
0.05	-	0.10
0.00	_	0.05



#### Figure 7. Where Do They Meet?

Maps of estimated spatially explicit resource overlap between baleen whales and fisheries (A), pinnipeds and fisheries (B), large toothed whales and fisheries (C), dolphins and fisheries (D) (from Kaschner, 2004)<sup>138</sup>. Maps were produced by computing a modified niche overlap index for each cell in the global grid (Sidebar 4). The overlap index is based on a comparison of similarity in the composition of diets of marine mammal species and catches of global fisheries in a particular cell, as represented by the proportions of different food types taken by each player in this cell and then weighted by the proportion of total global catch and food consumption taken in the cell. Overall predicted overlap between any marine mammal group and fisheries

 $\vec{a}$  is quite low from a global perspective, with only a few potential and isolated

"hotspots" concentrated in shelf areas. Specifically, overlap between pinnipeds and dolphins is predicted to be higher in the Northern Hemisphere, while overlap between baleen whales and large toothed whales appears to be higher in the Southern Hemisphere. Comparison with mapped fisheries catch rates suggests that areas of potential high conflict are largely driven by high concentrations of fisheries catches taken from relatively small areas. Note that predictions of high overlap in some areas, such as the northwestern Pacific for the baleen whales, are misleading as these are based on overestimates of food consumption in these areas. Overestimates are due to a specific feature of our modelling approach that currently does not account for the effects of population structure and varying degrees of depletion of different populations of the same species (Kaschner, 2004)<sup>138</sup>.

#### Resource overlap index





#### Figure 8. And How Big a Problem Is That?

Proportion of mean annual global catch/food consumption taken by baleen whales (A), pinnipeds (B), large toothed whales (C), and dolphins (D) in the 1990s in areas of predicted high or low resource overlap, respectively (from Kaschner, 2004)<sup>138</sup>. Note that in all cases more than 99 percent of all marine mammal food consumption stems from areas of very low overlap. Similarly, more than 85 percent of all fisheries catches are taken in areas of very low overlap (Kaschner, 2004)<sup>138</sup>.

unproductive pathways, notably the so-called "microbial loop". On the other hand, this diversity of pathways protects predators against the disappearance of one or another of their favourite prey species<sup>105</sup>. It is therefore not surprising that higher-level predators, such as sharks or dolphins, consume a wide range of prey, and concentrate on distinct species only in certain places or at certain times of the year. This feature of marine food webs is also the reason why removing a higher-level predator does not necessarily lead to an increase of what, at certain times and places, appears to be its "preferred" prey<sup>46, 72</sup>. Basically, predators not only consume their favourite prey, but also the competitors and, in many cases, the predators of their prey<sup>46, 72, 101</sup>. This is illustrated schematically in Figure 9 in the form of a feeding triangle, representing a ubiquitous feature of marine food webs. Here, a high-level predator, represented by a toothed whale (A), feeds on two species (B and C), with C being the preferred prey, which is also exploited by commercial fisheries (D). B, however, also preys on C (and other organisms-E, F, and so on-of no concern here). In such cases,

removing species A will not necessarily make it possible for the biomass of C to increase, or even for its production to become available to a fishery. Rather, it is more likely that B (whose numbers were also depressed by A) will increase and consume more of C<sup>106</sup>. If B happens to be a species that fisheries do not exploit, this will result in the production of C being "wasted" from the standpoint of fishery D. Indeed, to acquire the production of C, we would also have to cull B, and so on ad infinitum. It is this conundrum that has caused ecologists to coin the term "beneficial predation"-that is, a form of predation wherein the predator (here, A) enhances the production of its prey (here, C) by suppressing potential competitors or predators (here, B). This effect is very common in marine food webs. Indeed, essentially all marine food webs can be conceived as being composed of interlinked sets of feeding triangles shown schematically in Figure 9. Removing what appears to be a top predator, in such cases, only creates new top predators, and the would-be fishery enhancer will find himself ultimately culling 20

centimetre fish so that he can catch more 5 centimetre fish, thus competing with birds, squids and jellyfish.

Beneficial predation is not an *ad hoc* concept invented to discourage would-be cullers of marine mammals. Rather, counterintuitive results of removing high-level predators from ecosystems have been well demonstrated in various cases, based on a number of modelling approaches<sup>50, 63, 72, 101, 107-112, h</sup>. In fact, it has been proposed as one reason for a stagnation in global groundfish landings since the 1970s, as it is possible that the reduction of toothed whales and other high-level predators, which feed on desirable fish species but also on various squids, which in turn feed on juvenile groundfish, has contributed indirectly—through an increase of cephalopod consumption of juvenile fish—to the inhibition of finfish population recovery<sup>107, 113</sup>.

#### How Much Culling—If Ever—Is Enough?

One important assumption in the context of competition is that marine mammal food consumption increases directly with marine mammal abundance. Though this is obviously true in general<sup>1</sup>, other factors, such as the vulnerability of prey species to predation<sup>114</sup>, the ability of the predator to switch between prey species, and movements of animals between different areas, will greatly influence how much is eaten by a given species in a specific area. The flip side of this, then, is that it may be impossible to determine exactly how many animals would need to be culled to achieve the desired increase in fisheries catches. A study investigating this showed that, even for a very simple food web, many likely scenarios existed in which consumption of a given prey species by a marine mammal species would only decrease noticeably if the predator population was reduced by more than 50 percent<sup>46</sup>. Given the wideranging movements of most species and the fact that fish and marine mammals tend not to respect human management boundaries, it is highly questionable that we would ever be able to "manage" marine mammal populations in a manner guaranteed to produce a measurable, long-term increase in fisheries catches.

# **Other Legitimate Questions**

#### Who Would Get the Fish?

Although this may seem beside the point, we must highlight the questionable use of world hunger as a justification for the culling of marine mammals and the subsequent targeting of their prey<sup>i</sup>.

Though an estimated 950 million people worldwide currently rely on fish and shellfish for more than one third of their animal protein<sup>36</sup>, the per capita supply of wild caught fish for human consumption has been declining since the mid-1980s, particularly in the developing countries of the world<sup>k</sup>. This is due in part to overfishing, which has led to the decline of global catches since the late 1980s<sup>38, 39, 115</sup>, but also to human

### Sidebar 4

# Spatial Overlap of Marine Mammal Food Consumption and Fisheries Catches— Where They Meet

In the context of assessing potential competition between top predators in marine ecosystems, such as humans and many marine mammals, the question of who is eating/catching what WHERE is very important, as this greatly determines the degree of overlap between the two. However, this question could not be addressed—at least not on a large scale—prior to the development of mapping techniques for marine mammal distributions and fisheries catches such as described in Sidebars 2 and 3.

Thanks to our novel approach for mapping largescale distributions of marine mammal species, we were able to produce global maps showing where specific species are likely to feed by linking our predictions about the likely occurrence of individual species (Sidebar 3) to the outputs from the basic food consumption model (Sidebar 1). The food consumption maps for groups of species shown in Figure 6 were then generated, by summing food consumption rates across all species within each group of marine mammals.

To assess the degree to which there may be conflict between fisheries and marine mammals, we quantitatively compared "who is likely taking what where" by computing an index of resource exploitation overlap for each individual cell in our global raster with 0.5° latitude by 0.5° longitude cell dimensions. The index is a modified version of one developed initially to investigate the overlap in ecological niches between two species<sup>142</sup>, based on the comparison of similarity in resource exploitation of both species. Here, we compared the similarity in the composition of diets of marine mammal groups and catches of global fisheries in a particular cell represented by the proportions of different food types taken by each player in this cell, then weighted the qualitative index of diet similarity by the proportion of total global catch and food consumption taken in this cell to get a sense of the relative contribution of each cell to either total marine mammal food consumption or fisheries catches<sup>51, 138, 142, r</sup>. The resulting maps (Figure 7) represent the area where conflicts between specific groups of marine mammals and fisheries may occur, i.e., both players are potentially taking comparatively large amounts of similar food types in the same geographic region.



#### Figure 9. We May Be in for Surprises

Schematic representation of beneficial predation: Whale species A feeds on both prey species B and on prey species C, the latter a commercially harvested species. In addition, prey species B also feeds on prey species C. This means that a decrease in whale species A may actually result in a net increase of predation on prey species C through B, resulting in an overall decrease of commercially harvested species C. Thus, a reduction in the predators will not necessarily result in an increase in a particular prey species.

population growth. Indeed, no natural resource, including wild caught fish, could ever meet our ever-growing demand. We shall abstain from elaborating on the fact that of the 120-150 million or so tonnes of fish and invertebrates killed annually by fisheries, only about half is actually eaten by people: about 30 million tonnes of bycatch are discarded or killed by lost gear ("ghost fishing"), while a huge amount is lost to spoilage<sup>116</sup> and during processing (e.g., gutting, filleting)<sup>117</sup>, or left uneaten, in richer countries, at the edge of consumers' plates. Another 30 million tonnes, however, are fed to various livestock<sup>39</sup> and carnivorous fish—notably salmon, sea bass, groupers and tuna-in fish farming industries, which are one of the driving factors behind the increased fish exports from developing to developed countries, especially to the United States, the European Union and Japan (Figure 10)<sup>118, 119</sup>.

Contrary to popular opinion, the herrings, sardines, mackerels, and other species ground up to produce the fish meal that is fed to carnivorous fish are, when suitably handled, perfectly edible by humans and are indeed appreciated in many parts of the world. These fish are increasingly lacking in the markets of developing countries, in areas such as West Africa, where, being relatively cheap, they represented the major source of animal protein for poor people<sup>118,1</sup>. Given these trends, and increasing fish exports from developing to developed countries, it would be completely unrealistic to assume, and disingenuous to claim, that the meat of culled marine mammals or that of their former prey would become a substitute for the fish that is presently exported from countries where people "do not have adequate food"66. Indeed, it is precisely the low purchasing power of the people within these countries that prevents them from successfully competing with fish meal producers and fish feedlot operators.

#### Are We Simply Looking for Scapegoats?

Unlike earlier fisheries declines, which passed mostly unnoticed by the general public, the massive fisheries collapses of the last decades had a broad public impact and have therefore generated widespread calls for mitigation<sup>120</sup>. Particularly, people have noted that fisheries management has so far tended to focus on single stocks, thus neglecting feeding and other interactions between different species/stocks and their dependence on the health of their ecosystems. There have been, as a result, increasing demands for ecosystem-based fisheries management, or even "ecosystem management"<sup>m</sup>. The scientific community has accepted this challenge, and for the last few years, a lively scientific debate has been conducted in many national and international arenas on this topic. The principal questions asked deal with how to implement such a broad form of management and how to identify suitable indicators and formulate fisheries target and reference points within an ecosystem context<sup>n</sup>. This includes the challenge of achieving set conservation objectives for predators of species targeted by fisheries<sup>121</sup>.

Those who advocate a broad-based attack on marine mammals, on the other hand, behave as if they already have the answers. Because most fish stocks of the world have been overexploited (including those upon which marine mammals rely), the mantra coming from this latter group is that all we have to do is remove marine mammals until the original balance is re-established. Here is a quote to that effect:

"When a single species is protected ignoring its role in the ecosystem, the balance in the ecosystem is disrupted."  $^{66}$ 

Albert Einstein is supposed to have noted that "all complex problems have one simple solution; however, it happens to be completely wrong." Here, not only have



#### Figure 10. The Problem of World Hunger—Are We Simply Looking for Scapegoats?

Map of fish producers and consumer countries showing major importing (red) countries and the Exclusive Economic Zones (blue), where the majority of exports were sourced for large pelagic fish from 1976–2000. This provides an illustration that the majority of catches from developing countries are being consumed in developed countries<sup>6</sup>. Given such trading patterns, it is doubtful that an increase in global fisheries production would translate into a decrease in world hunger (reproduced with permission from Alder et al.)<sup>119</sup>.

the fish been overexploited, but so have the marine mammals. Given reduced fishing pressure, fish can be expected to recover faster<sup>o</sup> than marine mammals<sup>122, 123</sup>, given their respective reproductive abilities. Indeed, all recent evidence confirms that baleen whales are far less abundant than they were historically<sup>4, 8, 19, 124, 125</sup>. Re-establishing the disrupted balance of ecosystems is therefore hardly a simple matter of reducing whale numbers.

Clearly what we have is an attempt at finding a convenient scapegoat for the mismanagement of fisheries<sup>43</sup> and the reduction of catches caused by excess fishing effort throughout the world. This puts the following quote in context:

"The FAO considers that we cannot increase the harvest from the ocean if we continue present practices. To increase the catch from the ocean, holistic management and sustainable utilization of marine resources including marine mammals, such as whales, is essential."<sup>42</sup>

This, indeed, is a beautiful example of a "non sequitur": yes, we cannot increase landings "if we continue present practices". But the present practices are characterized by waste (e.g., bycatch<sup>2, 126, 127</sup>, discarding<sup>127</sup>, ghost fishing<sup>128</sup>), and pathological management structures (e.g., excess fishing capacity<sup>129</sup>, subsidies<sup>130</sup>), and *these* are the practices that, all experts agree, must be overcome, rather than killing more whales, even if we think "holistically".

#### And How about the Birds?

Interestingly, nobody has proposed (so far!) to kill all seabirds to increase fish available for human consumption. There are millions of seabirds in the world, consuming massive amounts of fish, squids and other valuable invertebrates. Although they individually tend to weigh little, the high metabolic rate of birds leads to very high food consumption rates<sup>131</sup>. Thus, in the aggregate, seabirds have been estimated to consume 50-80 millions tonnes of fish and invertebrates per year<sup>132</sup>, at least half of what humans kill annually. Yet no one has proposed that seabirds should be culled, and indeed saving seabirds from death (e.g., by entanglement in fishing gear) is one of the few conservation-related activities that is never disparaged in public, even though it greatly affects the manner in which some fisheries operations are conducted.

Clearly, if those proposing a global attack on marine mammals were consistent, they should also propose that we go after the seabirds. More importantly, we should eliminate all large fish as well, since they eat immense numbers of other fish, shrimps and squids, generally far more than taken by marine mammals and seabirds<sup>51, 133</sup>. Indeed, the greatest predators of fish are other fish<sup>51, 134</sup>. But then again, we are in fact eliminating large predatory fish anyway, as we fish down marine food webs, reducing high-level predator biomasses as we go along<sup>103, 135, 136</sup>. Nevertheless, overall catches are decreasing<sup>p</sup>, notably because in the process, we are eliminating beneficial predation.

# Conclusions

We have shown that, even though marine mammals consume a large quantity of marine resources as a whole, there is likely relatively little actual competition between "them" and "us" from a global perspective, mainly because they, to a large extent, consume food items that we do not catch, in places where our fisheries do not operate.

This is not to say that there may not be potential for conflict in the small geographic regions in which marine mammal food consumption overlaps with fisheries. These areas warrant further investigation. But even in these cases, it seems likely that the most common type of competitive interaction will be one where fisheries have an adverse impact on marine mammal species, especially those with small, restricted distributional ranges<sup>97, 137, 138</sup>.

Our analysis clearly shows that these are isolated, regional issues to be addressed at the appropriate scale, and that there is no evidence that food competition between marine mammals and fisheries is a global problem, even when the uncertainties associated with the available information are considered. Thus, there is little basis to blame marine mammals for the crisis world fisheries are facing today. There is even less support for the suggestion that we could solve any of these urgent global problems, caused by a long history of mismanagement of fisheries and other resources, by reducing marine mammal populations.

We may, however, spend some time thinking about the fact that marine mammals—and other top predators—have been "successfully managing" marine resources, consuming larger amounts than those taken by global fishing operations today, for millennia. Unlike us, they appear to have done so sustainably, without causing their prey species to collapse. Maybe we could learn something from them. It's food for thought.

## **Acknowledgements**

We acknowledge funding provided for this report by The Humane Society of the United States (HSUS). The underlying research was conducted as part of the "Sea Around Us" Project with funding provided by the Pew Charitable Trusts of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and via Daniel Pauly by the National Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada. Additional support for Kristin Kaschner was provided by a "Li Tze Fong" graduate fellowship and a partial university graduate fellowship from the University of British Columbia.

# **References & Notes**

1. Hoelzel, A. R. (ed.) *Marine Mammal Biology—An Evolutionary Approach* (Blackwell Science Ltd, 2002).

2. Northridge, S. P. An updated world review of interactions between marine mammals and fisheries. 58 (Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations, Rome, 1991).

3. Northridge, S. In *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals* (eds. Perrin, W. F., Würsig, B. & Thewissen, J. G. M.) 442–447 (Academic Press, 2002).

4. Clapham, P. J. & Baker, C. S. In *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals* (eds. Perrin, W. F., Würsig, B. & Thewissen, J. G. M.) 1328–1329 (Academic Press, 2002).

5. Rodriguez, D. & Bastida, R. Four hundred years in the history of pinniped colonies around Mar del Plata, Argentina. *Aquatic Conservation* **8**, 721–735 (1998).

6. Gales, N. J. & Burton, H. R. The past and present status of the southern elephant seal *Mirounga leonina Linn*. in greater Antarctica. *Mammalia* **53**, 35–48 (1989).

7. Knox, G. A. in *The Biology of the Southern Ocean* (ed. Knox, G. A.) 141–160 (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 1994).

8. Perry, S. L., DeMaster, D. P. & Silber, G. K. The great whales: history and status of six species listed as endangered under the U.S. Endangered Species Act of 1973. *Marine Fisheries* Review **61**, 74pp (1999).

9. Mitchell, E. & Mead, J. G. The history of the gray whale in the Atlantic ocean. In *Proceedings of the 2nd Conference on the Biology of Marine Mammals* 12 (Society of Marine Mammalogy, San Diego, California, 1977).

10. Kenyon, K. W. Caribbean monk seal extinct. *Journal of Mammalogy* 58, 97–98 (1977).

11. Gilmartin, W. G. & Forcada, J. In *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals* (eds. Perrin, W. F., Wursig, B. & Thewissen, H. G. M.) 756–759 (Academic Press, San Diego, CA, 2002).

12. Harwood, J. et al. Assessment and reduction of the bycatch of small cetaceans in European waters (BY-CARE)—Executive summary. (NERC Sea Mammal Research Unit, St. Andrews, Scotland, 1999).

13. Kaschner, K. Review of small cetacean bycatch in the ASCOBANS area and adjacent waters—current status and suggested future actions. 123 (ASCOBANS-UN, Bonn, Germany, 2003).

14. Coombs, A. P. Marine mammals and human health in the eastern Bering Sea: Using an ecosystem-based food web model to track PCBs, MSc. Thesis, 91 (University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada, 2004).

15. Mossner, S. & Ballschmiter, K. Marine mammals as global pollution indicators for organochlorines. *Chemosphere* **34**, 1285–1296 (1997).

16. Borrell, A. & Reijnders, P. J. H. Summary of temporal trends in pollutant levels observed in marine mammals. *Journal of Cetacean Research & Management (Special Issue)* 1, 145–155 (1999).

17. Jepson, P. D. et al. Gas-bubble lesions in stranded cetaceans: was sonar responsible for a spate of whale deaths after an Atlantic military exercise? (Brief communication). *Nature* **425**, 575–576 (2003).

18. Johnston, D. W. & Woodley, T. H. A survey of acoustic harassment device (AHD) use in the Bay of Fundy, NB, Canada. *Aquatic Mammals* **24**, 51–61 (1998).

19. Clapham, P. J., Young, S. & Brownell, R. L. J. Baleen whales: conservation issues and the status of the most endangered populations. *Mammal Review* **29**, 35–60 (1999).

20. Fujiwara, M. & Caswell, H. Demography of the endangered North Atlantic right whale. *Nature (London)* **414**, 537–541 (2001).

21. D'Agrosa, C., Lennert-Cody, C. E. & Vidal, O. Vaquita bycatch in Mexico's artisanal gillnet fisheries: driving a small population to extinction. *Conservation Biology* **14**, 1110–1119 (2000).

22. Gucu, A. C., Gucu, G. & Orek, H. Habitat use and preliminary demographic evaluation of the critically endangered Mediterranean monk seal (*Monachus monachus*) in the Cilician Basin (*Eastern Mediterranean*). *Biological Conservation* **116**, 417–431 (2004).

23. Ridoux, V. Studies on fragmented and marginal seal populations in Europe: an introduction. *Mammalia* **65**, 277–282 (2001).

24. Aguilar, A. Current status of Mediterranean monk seal (*Monachus monachus*) populations. (IUCN, Gland, Switzerland, 1998).

25. Carretta, J. V. et al. U.S. Pacific Marine Mammal Stock Assessments—2002. 290 (U.S. Department of Commerce, 2002).

26. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. COSEWIC assessment and update status report on the North Atlantic right whale *Eubalaena glacialis* in Canada. (COSEWIC, Ottawa, 2003).

27. Johnston, D. W. Acoustic harassment device use at salmon aquaculture sites in the Bay of Fundy, Canada: noise pollution and potential effects on marine mammals. *Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries & Aquatic Sciences* **2192**, 12 (1997).

28. Fertl, D. In *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals* (eds. Perrin, W. F., Würsig, B. & Thewissen, J. G. M.) 438-442 (Academic Press, 2002).

29. Dahlheim, M. E. Killer whale (*Orcinus orca*) depredation on longline catches of sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) in Alaskan waters. 14 (Northwest and Alaskan Fisheries Center—NMFS, Seattle, WA, 1988).

30. Culik, B. M., Koschinski, S., Tregenza, N. & Ellis, G. M. Reactions of harbor porpoises *Phocoena phocoena* and herring *Clupea harengus* to acoustic alarms. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **211**, 255–260 (2001).

31. Harwood, J. A risk assessment framework for the reduction of cetacean by-catches. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* **9**, 593–599 (1999).

32. Palka, D. Effectiveness of gear modifications as a harbour porpoise by-catch reduction strategy off the Mid-Atlantic coast of the USA. (SC/52/SM24). In *International Whaling Commission—Scientific Committee Meeting* 27 ((unpublished), Adelaide, Australia, 2000).

33. Read, A. J. Potential mitigation measures for reducing the bycatches of small cetaceans in ASCOBANS waters. 30pp (ASCOBANS, Bonn, Germany, 2000).

34. Beddington, J. R., Beverton, R. J. H. & Lavigne, D. M. (eds.) *Marine Mammals and Fisheries* (George Allen & Unwin, London, UK, 1985).

35. Harwood, J. & Croxall, J. P. The assessment of competition between seals and commercial fisheries in the North Sea and the Antarctic. *Marine Mammal Science* **4**, 13–33 (1988).

36. Plagánzi, É. E. & Butterworth, D. S. In *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals* (eds. Perrin, W. F., Würsig, B. & Thewissen, J. G. M.) 268–273 (Academic Press, 2002).

37. Pauly, D., Trites, A. W., Capuli, E. & Christensen, V. Diet composition and trophic levels of marine mammals. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **55**, 467–481 (1998).

38. Pauly, D. et al. The future of fisheries. *Science* **302**, 1359–1360 (2003).

39. Pauly, D. et al. Towards sustainability in world fisheries. *Nature* **418**, 689–695 (2002).

40. Torres, D. N. In *International Symposium and Workshop on the Status, Biology, and Ecology of Fur Seals* 37–40 (National Oceanic & Atmospheric Administration, Cambridge, England, UK, 1987).

41. Wickens, P. & York, A. E. Comparative population dynamics of fur seals. *Marine Mammal Science* **13**, 241–292 (1997).

42. Institute of Cetacean Research. What can we do for the coming food crisis in the 21st century? Tokyo, Japan (2001).

43. Holt, S. Sharing our seas with whales and dolphins. *FINS—Newsletter of ACCOBAMS* **1**, 2–4 (2004).

44. van Zile, D. To whale or not to whale? In *National Fisherman* **44–46**, 88 (2000).

45. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Report of the Reykjavik conference on responsible fisheries in the marine ecosystem. In *FAO Fisheries Report* (Reykjavik, Iceland, 2001).

46. Cooke, J. G. Some aspects of the modelling of effects of changing cetacean abundance on fishery yields (SC/J02/FW10). In *International Whaling Commission—Modelling Workshop on Cetacean-Fishery Competition* 1–28 ((unpublished), La Jolla, CA, 2002).

47. International Whaling Commission. Report of the modelling workshop on cetacean-fishery competition (SC/55/Rep 1). In *International Whaling Commission—Modelling Workshop on Cetacean-Fishery Competition* 1–21 ((unpublished), La Jolla, CA, 2003).

48. Sigurjónsson, J. & Vikingsson, G. A. Investigations on the ecological role of cetaceans in Icelandic and adjacent waters. (CM 1992/N:24). In *ICES—Marine Mammal Committee* ((unpublished), 1992).

49. Bowen, W. D. Role of marine mammals in aquatic ecosystems. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **158**, 267–274 (1997).

50. Yodzis, P. Must top predators be culled for the sake of fisheries? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **16**, 78–83 (2001).

51. Trites, A. W., Christensen, V. & Pauly, D. Competition between fisheries and marine mammals for prey and primary production in the Pacific Ocean. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* **22**, 173–187 (1997).

52. Thomson, R. B., Butterworth, D. S., Boyd, I. L. & Croxall, J. P. Modeling the consequences of Antarctic krill harvesting on Antarctic fur seals. *Ecological Applications* **10**, 1806–1819 (2000).

53. Boyd, I. L. Estimating food consumption of marine predators: Antarctic fur seals and macaroni penguins. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **39**, 103–119 (2002).

54. Hammill, M. O. & Stenson, G. B. Estimated prey consumption by harp seals (*Phoca groenlandica*), hooded seals (*Cystophora cristata*), grey seals (*Halichoerus grypus*) and harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*) in Atlantic Canada. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* **26**, 1–23 (2000).

55. Harwood, J. & McLaren, I. Modelling interactions between seals and fisheries: model structures, assumptions and data requirements (SC/J02/FW4). In *International Whaling Commission—Modelling Workshop on Cetacean-Fishery Competition* 1–9 ((unpublished), La Jolla, CA, 2002).

56. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES). Report of the Multispecies Assessment Working Group (CM 1997/Assess:16). In ICES (1997).

57. Livingston, P. A. & Jurado-Molina, J. A multispecies virtual population analysis of the eastern Bering Sea. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **57**, 294–299 (2000).

58. Bogstad, B., Hauge, K. H. & Ulltang, Ø. MULTSPEC—A multi-species model for fish and marine mammals in the Bering Sea. *Journal* of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science **22**, 317–342 (1997).

59. Bogstad, B., Haug, T. & Mehl, S. Who eats whom in the Barents Sea? In *Minke whales, harp and hooded seals: major predators in the North Atlantic ecosystem* (eds. Vikingsson, G. A. & Kapel, F. O.) 98–119 (NAAMCO Scientific Publications, Tromsø, Norway, 2000).

60. Christensen, V. & Walters, C. Ecopath with Ecosim: Methods, Capabilities and Limitations. In *Methods for evaluating the impacts of fisheries on North Atlantic ecosystems* (eds. Pauly, D. & Pitcher, T. J.) FCRR **8(2)**, 79–105 (Fisheries Centre, UBC, Vancouver, 2000).

61. United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). Report of the scientific advisory committee of the marine mammals action plan (1999).

62. Tjelmeland, S. Consumption of capelin by harp seal in the Barents Sea—data gaps. In Marine mammals: From feeding behaviour or stomach contents to annual consumption—What are the main uncertainties? NAMMCO—Scientific Council Meeting 8 ((unpublished), Tromsø, Norway, 2001).

63. Bjørge, A., Bekkby, T., Bakkestuen, V. & Framstad, E. Interactions between harbour seals, *Phoca vitulina*, and fisheries in complex coastal waters explored by combined Geographic Information System (GIS) and energetics modelling. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **59**, 29–42 (2002).

64. García-Tiscar, S., Sagarminaga, R., Hammond, P. S. & Cañadas, A. Using habitat selection models to assess spatial interaction between bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) and fisheries in south-east Spain (*Abstract*). In *Proceedings of the 15th Biennial Conference on the Biology of Marine Mammals* 58 (Society of Marine Mammalogy, Greensboro, NC, 2003).

65. Stenson, G. B. & Perry, E. Incorporation uncertainty into estimates of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*), capelin (*Mallotus villosus*) and Arctic cod (*Boreogadus saida*) consumption by harp seals in NAFO Divisions 2J3KL. In *Marine mammals: From feeding behaviour or stomach contents to annual consumption—What are the main uncertainties? NAMMCO— Scientific Council Meeting* ((unpublished), Tromsø, Norway, 2001).

66. Institute of Cetacean Research. Didn't we forget something? Cetaceans and food for humankind, Tokyo, Japan (2001).

67. Tamura, T. In *Responsible Fisheries in Marine Ecosystems* (eds. Sinclair, M. & Valdimarsson, G.) 143–170 (Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations & CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK, 2003).

68. Kenney, R. D., Scott, G. P., Thompson, T. J. & Winn, H. E. Estimates of prey consumption and trophic impacts of cetaceans in the USA northeast continental shelf ecosystem. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* **22**, 155–171 (1997).

69. Sigurjónsson, J. & Víkingsson, G. A. Seasonal abundance of and estimated food consumption by cetaceans in Icelandic and adjacent waters. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* **22**, 271–287 (1997).

70. MacLaren, A., Brault, S., Harwood, J. & Vardy, D. Report of the Eminent Panel on Seal Management (Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Ottawa, Canada, 2002).

71. Leaper, R. & Lavigne, D. Scaling prey consumption to body mass in cetaceans (SC/J02/FW2). In *International Whaling Commission— Modelling Workshop on Cetacean-Fishery Competition* 1–12 ((unpublished), La Jolla, CA, 2002).

72. Parsons, T. R. The removal of marine predators by fisheries and the impact of trophic structure. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **25**, 51–53 (1992).

73. Campagna, C., Quintana, F., Le, B. B. J., Blackwell, S. & Crocker, D. E. Diving behaviour and foraging ecology of female southern elephant seals from Patagonia. *Aquatic Mammals* **24**, 1–11 (1998).

74. Hooker, S. K. & Baird, R. W. Deep-diving behaviour of the Northern bottlenose whale, *Hyperoodon ampullatus* (Cetacea: Ziphiidae). *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London (Series B): Biological Sciences* **266**, 671–676 (1999).

75. Hindell, M. A., Harcourt, R., Waas, J. R. & Thompson, D. Fine-scale three-dimensional spatial use by diving, lactating female Weddell seals *Leptonychotes weddellii*. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **242**, 285–294 (2002).

76. Laidre, K. L., Heide-Jørgensen, M. P., Dietz, R., Hobbs, R. C. & Jørgensen, O. A. Deep-diving by narwhals *Monodon monoceros*: differences in foraging behavior between wintering areas? *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **261**, 269–281 (2003).

77. Davis, R. W., Fuiman, L. A., Williams, T. M., Horning, M. & Hagey,
W. Classification of Weddell seal dives based on 3-dimensional movements and video-recorded observations. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 264, 109–122 (2003).

78. Fiscus, C. H. & Rice, D. W. Giant squids, *Architeuthis* sp., from stomachs of sperm whales, captured off California. *California Fish & Game* **60**, 91–93 (1974).

79. Clarke, M. D. The role of cephalopods in the world's oceans: general conclusions and the future. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London (Series B)* **351**, 1105–1112 (1996).

80. Clarke, M. R., Martins, H. R. & Pascoe, P. L. The diet of sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*) off the Azores. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London (Series B)* **339**, 67–82 (1993).

81. Barros, N. B. & Clarke, M. R. In *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals* (eds. Perrin, W. F., Würsig, B. & Thewissen, J. G. M.) 323–327 (Academic Press, 2002).

82. Zeppelin, T. K., Tollit, D. J., Call, K. A., Orchard, T. J. & Gudmundson, C. J. Sizes of walleye pollock (*Theragra chalcogramma*) and Atka mackerel (*Pleurogrammus monopterygius*) consumed by the western stock of Steller sea lions (*Eumetopias jubatus*) in Alaska from 1998–2000. *Fishery Bulletin* **102** (2004 in press).

83. Tollit, D. J. et al. Species and size differences in the digestion of otoliths and beaks; implications for estimates of pinniped diet composition. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **54**, 105–119 (1997).

84. Tollit, D. J., Wong, M., Winship, A. J., Rosen, D. A. S. & Trites, A. W. Quantifying errors associated with using prey skeletal structures from fecal samples to determine the diet of Steller's sea lion *(Eumetopias jubatus). Marine Mammal Science* **19**, 724–744 (2003).

85. Best, P. B. & Schell, D. M. Stable isotopes in southern right whale (*Eubalaena australis*) baleen as indicators of seasonal movements, feeding and growth. *Marine Biology (Berlin)* **124**, 483–494 (1996).

86. Hooker, S. K., Iverson, S. J., Ostrom, P. & Smith, S. C. Diet of Northern bottlenose whales inferred from fatty acid and stable isotope analyses of biopsy samples. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **79**, 1442–1454 (2001).

87. Das, K. et al. Marine mammals from northeast Atlantic: relationship between their trophic status as determined by  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{15}$ N measurements and their trace metal concentrations. *Marine Environmental Research* **56**, 349–365 (2003).

88. Iverson, S. J. In *Marine mammals: advances in behavioural and population biology* (ed. Boyd, I. L.) 263–291 (The Zoological Society of London, Clarendon Press, Oxford, UK, 1993).

89. Grahl-Nielsen, O. et al. Fatty acid composition of the adipose tissue of polar bears and of their prey: ringed seals, bearded seals and harp seals. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **265**, 275–282 (2003).

90. Lea, M.-A., Cherel, Y., Guinet, C. & Nichols, P. D. Antarctic fur seals foraging in the Polar Frontal Zone: inter-annual shifts in diet as shown from fecal and fatty acid analyses. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **245**, 281–297 (2002).

91. Smith, S. J., Iverson, S. J. & Bowen, W. D. Fatty acid signatures and classification trees: new tools for investigating the foraging ecology of seals. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries & Aquatic Sciences* **54**, 1377–1386 (1997).

92. Haug, T., Gjøsæter, H., Lindstrøm, U., Nilssen, K. T. & Røttingen,
I. In Whales, seals, fish and man—Proceedings of the International Symposium on the Biology of Marine Mammals in the North East Atlantic, Tromsø, Norway, 29 November–1 December 1994 (eds. Blix, A. S.,
Walløe, L. & Ulltang, Ø.) 225–239 (Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1995).

93. Tamura, T. Geographical and seasonal changes of prey species and prey consumption in the western North Pacific minke whales. (SC/9/EC/8). In *International Whaling Commission—Scientific Committee Meeting* 13 ((unpublished), Norway, 2001).

94. Nilssen, K. T. In Whales, seals, fish and man—Proceedings of the International Symposium on the Biology of Marine Mammals in the North East Atlantic, Tromsø, Norway, 29 November–1 December 1994 (eds. Blix, A. S., Walløe, L. & Ulltang, Ø.) 241–254 (Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1995).

95. Delgado, C. L., Wada, N., Rosegrant, M. W., Meijer, S. & Ahmed, M. *Fish to 2020—Supply and Demand in Changing Global Markets* (International Food Policy Research Centre & WorldFish Center, Washington, D.C. & Penang, Malaysia, 2003).

96. Bonfil, R. et al. Impacts of distant water fleets: an ecological, economic and social assessment. 11–111 (Endangered Species Campaign, WWF International, Godalming, Surrey, UK, 1998).

97. DeMaster, D. P., Fowler, C. W., Perry, S. L. & Richlin, M. F. Predation and competition: the impact of fisheries on marinemammal populations over the next one hundred years. *Journal of Mammalogy* **82**, 641–651 (2001).

98. Fritz, L. W., Ferrero, R. C. & Berg, R. J. The threatened status of the Steller sea lion, *Eumetopias jubatus*, under the Endangered Species Act: effects on Alaska groundfish management. *Marine Fisheries Review* **57**, 14–27 (1995).

99. Loughlin, T. R. & York, A. An accounting of the sources of Steller sea lion, *Eumetopias jubatus*, mortality. *Marine Fisheries Review* **62**, 40–45 (2000).

100. Wickens, P. A. et al. In *Benguela Trophic Functioning* (eds. Payne, A. I. L., Brink, K. H., Mann, K. H. & Hilborn, R.) *South African Journal of Marine Science*, **12**, 773–789 (1992).

101. Punt, A. E. & Butterworth, D. S. The effects of future consumption by Cape fur seal on catches and catch rates of the Cape hakes.
4. Modelling the biological interaction between Cape fur seals *Arctocephalus pusillus pusillus* and the Cape hake *Merluccius capensis* and *Merluccius paradoxus*. South African Journal of Marine Science 16, 255–285 (1995).

102. Harwood, J. Marine mammals and their environment in the twenty-first century. *Journal of Mammalogy* **82**, 630–640 (2001).

103. Pauly, D., Christensen, V., Dalsgaard, J., Froese, R. & Torres, F. J. Fishing down marine food webs. *Science* **279**, 860–863 (1998).

104. Ray, G. C. In *Analysis of marine ecosystems* (ed. Longhurst, A. R.) 397–413 (Academic Press, New York, 1981).

105. Neutel, A.-M., Heesterbeek, J. A. P. & de Ruiter, P. C. Stability in real food webs: weak links in long loops. *Science* **269**, 1120–1123 (2002).

106. Walters, C. & Kitchell, J. F. Cultivation/depensation effects on juvenile survival and recruitment: implications for the theory of fishing. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **58**, 1–12 (2001).

107. Caddy, J. F. & Rodhouse, P. G. Cephalod and groundfish landings: evidence for ecological change in global fisheries? *Reviews in Fish Biology & Fisheries* **8**, 431–444 (1998).

108. Yodzis, P. Local trophodynamics and the interaction of marine mammals and fisheries in the Benguela ecosystem. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **67**, 635–658 (1998).

109. Morisette, L., Hammill, M. O. & Savenkoff, C. The trophic role of marine mammals in the northern Gulf of St. Lawrence. *Marine Mammal Science* (submitted).

110. Okey, T. A. et al. A trophic model of a Galapagos subtidal rocky reef for evaluating fisheries and conservation strategies. *Ecological Modelling* **172**, 383–401 (2004).

111. Crooks, K. R. & Soulé, M. E. Mesopredator release and avifaunal extinctions in a fragmented system. *Nature* **400**, 563–566 (1999).

112. Pauly, D., Christensen, V. & Walters, C. Ecopath, Ecosim, and Ecospace as tools for evaluating ecosystem impact of fisheries. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **57**, 697–706 (2000).

113. Piatkowski, U., Pierce, G. J. & Morais da Cunha, M. Impact of cephalopods on the food chain and their interaction with the environment and fisheries: an overview. *Fisheries Research (Amsterdam)* **52**, 5–10 (2001).

114. Mackinson, S., Blanchard, J. L., Pinnegar, J. K. & Scott, R. Consequences of alternative functional response formations in models exploring whale-fishery interactions. *Marine Mammal Science* **19**, 661–681 (2003).

115. Watson, R. & Pauly, D. Systematic distortions in world fisheries catch trends. *Nature* **414**, 534–536 (2001).

116. Ward, A. R. & Jeffries, D. J. A manual for assessing post-harvest fisheries losses. (Natural Resource Institute, Chatham, UK, 2000).

117. Bykov, V. P. Marine Fishes: Chemical Composition and Processing Properties (Amerind Publishing Company, New Delhi, 1983).

118. Naylor, R. L. et al. Effect of aquaculture on world fish supplies. *Nature* **405**, 1017–1024 (2000).

119. Alder, J. & Watson, R. In *Fisheries Globalization* (eds. Taylor, W. W., Schechter, M. G. & Wolfson, L. G.) (Cambridge University Press, New York, in prep.).

120. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. *Code of Conduct for Responsible Fisheries* (Rome, 1995).

121. Constable, A. J. The ecosystem approach to managing fisheries: achieving conservation objectives for predators of fished species. *CCAMLR Science* **8**, 37–64 (2001).

122. Trites, A. W. et al. Ecosystem change and the decline of marine mammals in the eastern Bering Sea: testing the ecosystem shift and commercial whaling hypotheses. 106pp (Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada, 1999).

123. Best, P. B. Increase rates in severely depleted stocks of baleen whales. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **50**, 169–186 (1993).

124. Brownell, R. L. J., Best, P. B. & Prescott, J. H. (eds.) *Right Whales: Past and Present Status—Reports of the International Whaling Commission (special issue 10)* (International Whaling Commission, Cambridge, UK, 1983).

125. Holt, R. S. Whaling and whale conservation. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 44, 715–717 (2002).

126. Northridge, S. P. World review of interactions between marine mammals and fisheries. 190 (Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Rome, 1984).

127. Alverson, D. L., Freeberg, M. H., Pope, J. G. & Murawski, S. A. A global assessment of fisheries by catch and discards. 233 (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, 1994).

128. Breen, P. A. A review of ghost fishing by traps and gillnets. In *Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Marine Debris* (eds. Shomura, R. S. & Godfrey, M. L.) 571–599 (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Honolulu, Hawaii, 1990).

129. Mace, P. M. In *Developing and Sustaining World Fisheries Resources—Proceedings of the 2nd World Fisheries Congress* (eds. Hancock, D. H., Smith, D. C., Grant, A. & Beumer, J. B.) 1–20 (CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, Australia, 1997).

130. Munro, G. & Sumaila, U. R. The impact of subsidies upon fisheries management and sustainability: the case of the North Atlantic. *Fish and Fisheries* **3**, 233–290 (2002).

131. Ellis, H. I. & Gabrielsen, G. W. In *Biology of Marine Birds* (eds. Schreiber, E. A. & Burger, J.) 359–407 (CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2002).

132. de L. Brooke, M. The food consumption of the world's seabirds. *Biology Letters* **271**, S246–S248 (2004).

133. Livingston, P. A. Importance of predation by groundfish, marine mammals and birds on walleye pollock *Theragra chalcogramma* and Pacific herring *Clupea pallasi* in the eastern Bering Sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **102**, 205–215 (1993).

134. Furness, R. W. Management implications of interactions between fisheries and sandeel-dependent seabirds and seals in the North Sea. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **59**, 261–269 (2002).

135. Christensen, V. et al. Hundred year decline of North Atlantic predatory fishes. *Fish and Fisheries* **4**, 1–24 (2003).

136. Myers, R. A. & Worm, B. Rapid world-wide depletion of predatory fish communities. *Nature* **423**, 280–283 (2003).

137. Holmes, B. Whales, seals or men? Who stole all the fish? *New Scientist* (May 15, 2004).

138. Kaschner, K. Modelling and mapping of resource overlap between marine mammals and fisheries on a global scale. PhD thesis, MMRU, Fisheries Centre, Department of Zoology, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada (2004).

139. Kaschner, K., Watson, R., Trites, A. W. & Pauly, D. Mapping worldwide distributions of marine mammals using a Relative Environmental Suitability (RES) model. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* (in review).

140. Kaschner, K., Watson, R., MacLeod, C. D. & Pauly, D. Mapping worldwide distributions of data deficient marine mammals: a test using stranding data for beaked whales. *Journal of Applied Ecology* (in prep).

141. Watson, R., Kitchingman, A., Gelchu, A. & Pauly, D. Mapping global fisheries: sharpening our focus. *Fish and Fisheries* **5**, 168–177 (2004).

142. MacArthur, R. H. & Levins, R. The limiting similarity, convergence and divergence of coexisting species. *American Naturalist* **101**, 377–385 (1967).

143. Perryman, W. L., Donahue, M. A., Perkins, P. C. & Reilly, S. B. Gray whale calf production 1994–2000: are observed fluctuations related to changes in seasonal ice cover? *Marine Mammal Science* **18**, 121–144 (2002).

144. Wade, P. A Bayesian stock assessment of the eastern Pacific gray whale using abundance and harvest data from 1967–1996. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management* **4**, 85–98 (2002).

145. Angliss, R. P. & Lodge, K. L. U.S. Alaska Marine Mammal Stock Assessments—2002. 224 (U.S. Department of Commerce, 2002).

146. Weller, D. W., Burdin, A. M., Wuersig, B., Taylor, B. L. & Brownell, R. L. J. The western gray whale: a review of past exploitation, current status and potential threats. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management* **4**, 7–12 (2002).

147. Weller, D. W., Reeve, S. R., Burdin, A. M., Wuersig, B. & Brownell, R. L. J. A note on the spatial distribution of western gray whales (*Eschrichtius robustus*) off Sakhalin Island, Russia in 1998. *Journal* of Cetacean Research and Management **4**, 13–17 (2002).

148. Fulton, J. Salmon farming in Chile. *Sea Around Us Newsletter* **18**, 4–6 (2003).

149. Beverton, R. J. H. & Holt, S. J. On the Dynamics of Exploited Fish Populations (Chapman and Hall, London, UK, 1957).

150. Aguis, C. Tuna farming in the Mediterranean. *Infofish International* **5**, 28–32 (2002).

151. Pauly, D. & Christensen, V. Primary production required to sustain global fisheries. *Nature* **374**, 255–257 (1995).

a. Granted, in combination with some fairly sophisticated spatial modeling techniques.<sup>138-141</sup>

- b. We estimated only about one million baleen whales worldwide, versus about 35 million pinnipeds and 16 million dolphins.<sup>138</sup>
- c. That is, the effects of a species switching between feeding on 50 percent herring and feeding on 50 percent capelin in different seasons or in different areas of its range can be ignored, because it would still have a proportional diet composition consisting of 50 percent of the "small pelagics" food type.
- d. For example, though the "diet" of both a fishery and a marine mammal species may consist of 50 percent "small pelagics", the fishery may be targeting different small pelagic species than those consumed by the marine mammal.
- e. As a result, in the North Pacific, for example, the healthy and growing Eastern subpopulation of 18,000–20,000 grey whales that feed and breed along the Pacific coast of North America<sup>143-145</sup> effectively "subsidizes" the highly depleted Western subpopulation. This latter subpopulation historically occurred all along the coasts of Russia, Japan and probably as far down as the East China Sea, but is now on the brink of extinction, reduced to barely a hundred animals concentrated in the Sea of Okhotsk<sup>146, 147</sup>.
- f. When viewed from the perspective of fisheries, the overlap is slightly more pronounced, with less than 15 percent of all fisheries catches likely being caught in the areas that show up as hotspots on our maps<sup>138</sup>.
- g. Thus, the basic food produced at the bottom of marine food webs, mainly by minute phytoplankton, is consumed by herbivores of various sizes, some with a narrow range of preferred algal species, while others, facultative herbivores, also consume fellow zooplankters. From there, the pathways that biomass can follow along the food web branch even further, leading to small fish or large zooplankton, both consumed by larger fish or invertebrates, themselves consumed by a wide array of higher-order predators.
- h. Incidentally, the trophic dynamic software package Ecopath & Ecosim, widely applied to construct, balance and analyse marine food webs and often used to investigate the effects of beneficial predation, was also recently used by the ardent advocates of massive culls based at Japan's Institute of Cetacean Research. However, they failed, conveniently, to notice this feature of the software.
- i. That is, many whales will eat more than no whales at all.
- j. An example of a quotation: "Whaling can contribute to the world food shortage and environmental protection in several ways. [...] whaling is a means of obtaining high quality food from the sea without diminishing biodiversity and,[...] may allow more fish to be directed to human use."<sup>42</sup>

#### k. www.fao.org/fi/statist/nature\_china/30jan02.asp.

- I. Another example: Chilean sardine, once a staple food, is now scarce on Chilean markets, as most of the catch is ground up into fish meal to feed an export-orientated salmon industry so huge that it has consumed the bulk of the stocks of small pelagic fish once available in the rich waters of that country<sup>148</sup>. Our last example is the rapid development, in several Mediterranean countries, of massive tuna feedlot operations in which immense quantities of the sardine and other small fish much appreciated around the Mediterranean are used to fatten tuna, which are then flown to Japan, where, like salmon, they enter a developed-country luxury market<sup>150</sup>.
- m. For example, at the World Summit on Sustainable Development held in Johannesburg, South Africa, in 2002, organized by the United Nations Commission on Sustainable Development (*www.johannesburgsummit.org*).
- n. For example, at the "Quantitative Ecosystem Indicators for Fisheries Management" symposium, Paris, 2004, organized by the IOC at the HQ of Unesco (www.ecosystemindicators.org).
- o. As they did, for example, during World War II in the North Sea, which was mined and too dangerous to fish<sup>149</sup>.
- p. Given that biological production is higher at lower than at higher trophic levels (TL), fisheries catches, initially at least, will tend to increase when TL decline (i.e., when the fisheries target species is lower in the food web)<sup>103</sup>. This led to the suggestion of an FiB index which, given an estimate of the biomass (or energy) transfer efficiency (TE; often set at 0.1<sup>151</sup>) between TL, maintains a value of zero when a decrease in TL is matched by an appropriate catch increase (and conversely when TL increase), and deviates from zero otherwise. The FiB index is defined, for any year y, by

$$FiB_y = \log\{[Y_y \cdot (1/TE)TL_y] / [Y_0 \cdot (1/TE)TL_0]\}$$

where  $Y_v$  is the catch at year y;  $TL_v$  is the mean trophic level of the catch at year y; Y<sub>0</sub> is the catch and TL<sub>0</sub> is the mean trophic level of the catch at the start of the series being analysed<sup>103</sup>. Note that the FiB index is designed such that it does not vary during those periods when changes in TL are matched by catch changes in the opposite direction, i.e., periods within a time series where the FiB index does not appear to change. Conversely, an increase of the FiB index indicates that the underlying fishery is expanding beyond its traditional fishing area (or ecosystem), while a decrease indicates a geographic contraction, or a collapse of the underlying food web, leading to "backward-bending" plots of TL vs. catch<sup>103</sup>. All applications done so far of the FiB index indicate that once an area is extensively fished, "fishing down" (i.e., removing predators) does not increase catches as much as would be predicted from the higher production at lower trophic levels, and hence removing top predators from marine food webs appears, based on the FiB index as well, not to be an efficient strategy for increasing fisheries catches in a sustainable fashion.

q. Qi =  $\Sigma N_{is}^* W_{is}^* R_{is}$ , where Q represents the estimated food consumption of species i, which is calculated based on the abundance N, mean body mass W and daily ration consumed R, by both sexes s of the species.<sup>51</sup>

$$\mathbf{a}_{j} = \left(\frac{2\sum_{k} \mathbf{p}_{k} \mathbf{p}_{k}}{\sum_{k} \mathbf{p}_{k}^{2} + \mathbf{p}_{k}^{2}}\right) * (pQ_{I} * pC_{j}),$$

r.

where for each cell the resource overlap index a between marine mammal species group l and fisheries j is calculated based on the proportion of resource k in the total diet or catch of

the species group or fisheries and weighted by the proportion of total catch and food consumption summed across all species.<sup>51, 138, 142</sup>

s. Similar patterns prevail for demersal and small pelagic fishes and invertebrates.<sup>119</sup>

# **Kristin Kaschner**

MMRU, Fisheries Centre

UBC, Vancouver, Canada

Kristin Kaschner grew up in Bremen, Germany and received her "Diplom" (MSc)-with a specialization in bioacoustics—from the Biology Department of the Albert-Ludwigs-Universität of Freiburg, Germany, in 1997. For her Master's thesis research, she participated in CETASEL, an EC funded research collaboration aiming to reduce the bycatch of small cetaceans in pelagic trawl gear by technical means. As a project collaborator based at the Underwater Acoustics Group at Loughborough University, Leichestershire, UK, she developed an acoustic analysis technique to study the behaviour of small cetaceans around midwater trawl nets. Joining the Marine Mammal Research Unit at the Fisheries Centre at the University of British Columbia in late 1998 to work on her Ph.D., she has been a member of the Sea Around Us team since 1999. In addition to being in charge of coordinating the German fisheries data acquisition and compilation, her main research focus is the investigation of the potential impact that fisheries may have on marine mammal populations using spatial modelling approaches. Under the supervision of Daniel Pauly and Andrew Trites, her dissertation work focuses on the development of a large-scale model simulating geographical and seasonal changes in marine mammal distribution, abundance and food consumption to assess the degree of trophic overlap with fisheries on a global scale. Part of this work included the development of a global marine mammal database-containing information on distribution, migration and feeding patterns,

habitat preferences, abundances estimates, mean body weights, diet composition and feeding rates—that will be made available online through the Sea Around Us website (*www.seaaroundus.org*) within the next year.

In addition to her academic work. Ms. Kaschner has been involved in a number of international projects working for various conservation-oriented NGO's, including the BUND Germany, Greenpeace Australia & Denmark, WWF Germany & US as well as assorted research institutes in Denmark, Sweden, the Netherlands, the UK, Australia, US, Canada and Germany. Most of this work has focused on studying general cetacean biology and more specifically impacts of human activities on marine mammal populations over the past 10 years. Most recently, she was contracted by the ASCOBANS scientific advisory committee to conduct an extensive review of small cetacean bycatch in the ASCOBANS area and adjacent waters, which was presented at the fourth meeting of ASCOBANS parties in the summer of 2003. Ms. Kaschner was an invited participant at the International Whaling Commision Scientific Committee workshop on bycatch mitigation and acoustic deterrents in 1999 and is a member of the Cetacean Bycatch Task Force. She also has been a FishBase collaborator since 2000, compiling information about the acoustical behaviour of fish. In addition, she is a contact person for the Northwest Student Chapter of the Society of Marine Mammalogy (NWSSMM).

# **Daniel Pauly**

Dr. Daniel Pauly is a French citizen, born in May 1946 in Paris, France. He acquired a "Diplom" (= MSc) in 1974 in Germany and a Doctorate degree in Fisheries Biology in 1979 at the University of Kiel. He joined the International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management (ICLARM), in Manila, Philippines, in July 1979 as a Postdoctoral Fellow, and gradually took increasing responsibilities as Associate and Senior Scientist, then Program and Division Director. He became an adjunct Professor at the University of the Philippines, where he taught fisheries sciences, and acted as thesis advisor to more than 20 MSc and PhD students. After a study leave at Kiel University (1985), he directed the doctoral theses of a number of students at the Institut für Meereskunde, where, as "Privatdozent," he also taught several courses in fish population dynamics.

In October 1994, he joined the Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia (UBC), in Vancouver, Canada, as a tenured full Professor, while remaining ICLARM's Principal Science Advisor until Dec. 1997, and the Science Advisor of its FishBase project until 2000.

Since 1999, Dr. Pauly has acted as Principal Investigator of the Sea Around Us Project, based at the Fisheries Centre, UBC, funded by the Pew Charitable Trusts, Philadelphia, PA, and devoted to studying the impact of fisheries on the world's marine ecosystems. His scientific output, mainly dedicated to the management of fisheries and to ecosystem modelling, comprises authored and edited books, scientific papers and reports (a total of more than 500 items), and the concepts, methods and software he (co-) developed are in use throughout the world. This applies notably to the Ecopath modelling approach and software (see *www.ecopath.org*) and to FishBase, the online encyclopedia of fishes (see *www.fishbase.org*).

In 2001 he was awarded both the Murray Newman Award for Excellence in Marine Conservation Research, sponsored by the Vancouver Aquarium, and the Oscar E. Sette Award of the Marine Fisheries Section, American Fisheries Society. He was named an "Honorarprofessor" at Kiel University, Germany, in late 2002, and elected a Fellow of the Royal Society of Canada (Academy of Science) in early 2003. Profiles of Dr. Pauly were published in *Science* on April 19, 2002, *Nature* on Jan. 2, 2003, and the *New York Times* on Jan. 21, 2003.

#### **Positions Held**

**1974 to 1976:** "Projektassistent", German Society for Technical Cooperation (GTZ), assigned to the Indonesian-German Demersal Fisheries Project, Jakarta and Semarang, Indonesia.

**1977 to 1979:** Doctoral student and research assistant, Department of Fishery Biology, Institute for Marine Sciences, Kiel, Germany.

**1979 to 1994:** increasing responsibilities as staff member of the International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management (ICLARM, Manila, Philippines): 1979-80: Post-Doctoral Fellow; 1980–85: Associate Scientist; 1985-94: Senior Scientist; 1986-93: Director, Resources Assessment and Management Program (and of successor Programs and Division); 1994-97: Principal Scientific Advisor, ICLARM, 1994-2000: Senior Scientific Advisor, FishBase Project, ICLARM.

**1994 to present:** Professor of Fisheries, Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada.

#### **Membership in Scientific Societies and Panels**

Asian Fisheries Society, 1984 to 1993; Fisheries Society of the British Isles, 1987 to present; American Fisheries Society, 1981 to 1987 and 1995 to present; Network of Tropical Fisheries Scientists, 1982 to 1997; Network of Tropical Aquaculture Scientists, 1987 to 1997; Common Property Resource Network, 1986 to 1997; Deutsche Gesellschaft für Meeresforschung, 1982 to 1994; Philippine Fisheries Research Society, 1980 to 1989; British Sub-Aqua Club/Philippine Sub-Aqua Club, 1988 to 1997; Sociedad Mexicana de Historia Natural, 1987 to 1989; IOC/FAO Guiding Group of Experts of the Ocean Science and Living Resources Program, 1984 to 1989; Biological Rapporteur, IOC/SCOR Committee on Climate Changes and the Oceans, 1987 to 1988; Scientific Advisor, Asian Fisheries Society Research Fellowship Award Scheme, 1988 to 1993; Committee on Marine Science, Pacific Science Association, 1986 to 1988; Committee on Ecosystem Management for Sustainable Marine Fisheries, (U.S.) National Research Council (Washington, D.C.), September 1995 to 1998; International Foundation for Science, Scientific Advisor, 1995 to 1998; Working Group 105 on "The Impact on Fisheries Harvest on the Stability and Diversity of Marine Ecosystems" of the Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research, March 1996 to March 1999. Coordinating Lead Author for "Marine Systems," Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2002–2005); Fellow, Royal Society of Canada (Academy of Science, from 2003).

#### **Editorial Boards**

J. Applied Ichthyol., Subject Editor for Fisheries in Developing Countries, 1985 to 1994; Asian Fisheries Science. Editorial Board Member, 1987 to 1993; Fishbyte (Newsletter of the Network of Tropical Fisheries Scientists). Editor, 1988 to 1991; and Editor, Fishbyte Section of Naga, the ICLARM Quarterly, 1992 to 1996; Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries, Editorial Board Member, 1991 to 1999; Boletim, Instituto Português de Investigação Maritima. Editorial Board Member, 1995 to present; African Journal of Tropical Hydrobiology and Fisheries. Editorial Board Member, 1995 to present; Marine and Freshwater Research (Formerly Austr. J. Mar. Freshwater. Res.), 1997 to present; Fish and Fisheries, Associate Editor, 1999 to present.

# Conferences organized, consultancies, teaching and publications:

Available from full CV and list of publications, *www.fisheries.ubc.ca/members/dpauly*.

Funding provided for this report by



2100 L Street, NW Washington, DC 20037 202-452-1100 • *www.hsus.org* 



2100 L Street, NW Washington, DC 20037 USA 301-258-3010 ■ Fax: 301-258-3082 www.hsihsus.org